
PASCAGOULA CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING – TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 2, 2016, 6:00 P.M. 

 
 

  WELCOME AND CALL TO ORDER: 
 

 INVOCATION:     Councilman Hill   
 
  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Councilman Pickett  
 
 PROCLAMATIONS: 
 
1. Proclamation - American Heart Month is February 2016 

 
2. Proclamation - National Wear Red Day is Friday, February 5, 2016 

 
   ADDRESS THE COUNCIL: 
 

3. Resurrection High School 2015 Football Team – South State Championship winners for 
their division. 

 
4. Curley Clark, President, J.C. Chapter of NAACP, re: Need for diversity on Pascagoula-

Gautier School Board. 
 

5. Promenade Project – Public comment and discussion period to review project– particularly 
the shade structures and fire pit amenities. 

   
  PUBLIC HEARING – RESOLUTION FOR PROPERTY CLEANUP: 
 
6. Property cleanup for 709 Live Oak – (continued from 9-1-15, 10-6-15, and 11-3-15, Council 

meetings). 
 
  CONSENT AGENDA:* 

 
7. Minutes of recessed regular Council meeting of January 19, 2016 

Recommended Action: adopt and approve minutes 
 

8. Proclamation - Arbor Day is Friday, February 12, 2016 
Recommended Action: acknowledge receipt of Proclamation 

 
9. Resolution authorizing participation of the City employees and use of City resources in the 

promotion of the National Day of Prayer to be held on May 5, 2016.  
Recommended Action: adopt Resolution. 

 
10. Advertising the resources of the City through the Pascagoula Riverfront Festival – Free 

Flowin’ on the Riverfront – in the amount of $1,000.00, to be held on April 16, 2016. 
Recommended Action: adopt Resolution. 

 
 



 
11. Discover South Mississippi Advertising Contract  

Recommended Action: approve renewal of Discover South Mississippi (formerly See South 
Mississippi) advertising contract for quarterly full-page ads in the amount of $500.00 for 
each ad. 

 
12. Zonta MOU with the City of Pascagoula 

 Recommended Action: approve MOU and authorize City Manager to execute related 
documents. 
 

13. Closeout Documents for Point Park Pervious Concrete Paving 2015 contract with DCD 
Construction, Inc. 

 Recommended Action: approve closeout documents with DCD Construction, Inc., and 
authorize City Manager to execute related documents. Authorize a manual check in the 
amount of $3,720.40. 
 

14.  Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice 2015 
Recommended Action: adopt the Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice 2015, as 
required in association with the City’s Community Development Block Grant annual 
entitlement funds.  

 
15. Award of Bucket Truck Bid #359 

 Recommended Action: approve awarding the Bucket Truck Bid #359 to the low bidder, 
Aerial Truck Equipment, in the amount of $122,422.00. 
 

16. Miscellaneous Services Contract Extension with Compton Engineering 
 Recommended Action: approve contract extension and authorize City Manager to execute 
related documents. 
 

17. Miscellaneous Services Contract Extension with Brown, Mitchell & Alexander (BMA) 
 Recommended Action: approve contract extension and authorize City Manager to execute 
related documents. 
 

18. Budget Modification No. 5  for LaFont Inn Redevelopment Project 
 Recommended Action: approve Budget Modification No. 5 and authorize City Manager to 
execute related documents. 
 

19. Request for Qualifications for City Web Services 
 Recommended Action: authorize City Clerk to advertise for qualifications to provide web 
development, design and hosting services for a new City website and Economic Development 
microsite.  
 

20. Municipal Compliance Questionnaire for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015 
 Recommended Action: accept the Questionnaire and to be spread upon the minutes. 
 
 
 
 
 



 
21. Resolution authorizing sale of Energy Recovery Facility 

 Recommended Action: adopt Resolution and authorize Mayor to sign all documents 
necessary to effect sale. 
 

22. Recreation Department Gym Dedication 
 Recommended Action: approve recommendation to dedicate the gym at the Pascagoula 
Recreation Center as the Sarah Bailey Thomas Gym. 
 
 
CITY ATTORNEY 
 

23. Resolution urging the Mississippi Legislature to appropriate funds for the purpose of 
challenging the Coastal Floodplain Maps previously prepared by FEMA 

 Recommended Action: adopt Resolution. 
 
 
CLERK/COMPTROLLER 
 

24. Budget Amendment 16.08 in the General Fund for the Fire Department 
 Recommended Action: approve Budget Amendment 16.08. 
 

25. Budget Amendment 16.09 in the General Fund for the Economic Development Department 
 Recommended Action: approve Budget Amendment 16.09. 
 

26. Budget Amendment 16.10 in the Community Development Fund for the 2015 Justice 
Assistance Grant 

 Recommended Action: approve Budget Amendment 16.10. 
 

27. Budget Amendment 16.11 in the General Fund for Police Training 
 Recommended Action: approve Budget Amendment 16.11. 
 

28. Budget Amendment 16.12 in the General Fund for the Economic Development Department 
 Recommended Action: approve Budget Amendment 16.12. 
 
 
COMMUNITY/ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 

29. Resolution establishing an Arts District in the City of Pascagoula 
 Recommended Action: adopt Resolution. 
 
 
HUMAN RESOURCES 
 

30. Update Job Description – Assistant Comptroller 
 Recommended Action: request authorization to update the job description for the position 
of Assistant Comptroller. 
 
 



CLAIMS DOCKET 
 
31. Order for Docket of Claims for February 2, 2016 

Recommended Action: approve Order for Docket of Claims 
 

 
32. EXECUTIVE SESSION: Litigation issues involving PPM and prospective litigation with 

Knowles Construction Company. 
 
RECESS 

 
* Consent Agenda – All matters listed under Consent Agenda, are considered to be routine by the  
City Council and will be enacted by one motion.  There will not be separate discussion of these items.  If 
discussion is desired, that item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and will be considered separately. 



Agenda Number:  

2/2/16

City Manager/Public Relations

Anne Pitre 228.382.2086

Proclamation

American Hearth Month

cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text
1.



Proclamation 
 

WHEREAS, while progress has been significant in reducing deaths from heart disease, it is still the No. 

1 killer of both women and men; and 

 

WHEREAS, cardiovascular diseases are the nation’s leading cause of death and costliest disease with 

direct and indirect costs estimated to be $316.6 billion in 2011-12; and 

 

WHEREAS, about 801,000 people in the United States died from heart disease, stroke and other 

cardiovascular diseases in 2013, or about 1 of every 3 deaths in America; and 

 

WHEREAS, nearly 7,715 die from cardiovascular diseases in Mississippi each year; and 

 

WHEREAS, the American Heart Association’s 2020 Impact Goal seeks to improve the cardiovascular 

health of all Americans by 20 percent while reducing deaths from cardiovascular diseases and stroke 

by 10 percent through research, population- and community-level interventions, public health and 

policy measures; and 

 

WHEREAS, about eighty percent of cardiovascular disease cases may be prevented through everyday 

healthy living steps; and 

 

WHEREAS, the American Heart Association encourages citizens to help save lives by calling 911 if 

symptoms occur, become trained in CPR, and promote comprehensive automated external 

defibrillator programs in their communities; and 

 

WHEREAS, the American Heart Association is celebrating February 2016 as American Heart Month 

and promoting education and awareness by encouraging citizens to learn the warning signs of heart 

attack and stroke; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Mayor Harry “Jim” Blevins, in recognition of the importance of the ongoing fight 

against heart disease, do hereby proclaim February 2016 to be  
 

American Heart Month 
 

in the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi, and urge all citizens to recognize the critical importance of 

recognizing symptoms, taking preventive measures to live healthy, and incorporating tools and skills 

that will increase survival rates and save thousands of lives each year. 

 

 

 

        ____________________________________ 

                              Harry “Jim” Blevins, Mayor

  



Agenda Number:  

2/2/16

City Manager/Public Relations

Anne Pitre 228.382.2086

Proclamation

National Wear Red Day

cwarren
Typewritten Text
2.



Proclamation 
 

WHEREAS, heart disease and stroke kill one in three women in the United States, yet eighty percent 

of cardiac events may be prevented; and 

 

WHEREAS, cardiovascular diseases and stroke kill one woman every eighty seconds in the United 

States; and 

 

WHEREAS, an estimated forty-four million women in the United States are affected by cardiovascular 

diseases; and 

 

WHEREAS, ninety percent of women have at least one risk factor for developing heart disease, yet 

only one in five American women believe that heart disease is her greatest health threat; and 

 

WHEREAS, women comprise only twenty-four percent of participants in all heart-related studies; and 

 

WHEREAS, women are less likely to call 911 for themselves when experiencing symptoms of a heart 

attack than they are if someone else were having a heart attack; and 

 

WHEREAS, Go Red For Women encourages women to take charge of their health and schedule a 

Well-Woman Visit to learn about health status and risk for diseases; and 

 

WHEREAS, Go Red For Women is asking all Americans to Go Red by wearing red and speaking red: 

 

Get Your Numbers:  Ask your doctor to check your blood pressure, cholesterol and glucose 

 Own Your Lifestyle:  Stop smoking, lose weight, be physically active and eat healthy 

 Raise Your Voice:  Advocate for more women-related research and education 

 Educate Your Family:  Make healthy food choices for you and your family 

 Donate:  Show your support with a donation of time or money 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Harry “Jim” Blevins, in recognition of the importance of the ongoing fight 

against heart disease and stroke, do hereby proclaim Friday, February 5, 2016  

 

National Wear Red Day 
 

in the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi and urge all citizens to show their support for women and the 

fight against heart disease by wearing red and observing this day.  By increasing awareness, 

speaking up about heart disease, and empowering women to reduce their risk for cardiovascular 

disease, we can save thousands of lives each year. 

 

 

 

        ________________________________ 

        Harry “Jim” Blevins, Mayor 



Agenda Number:  

2/2/16

City Manager/Public Relations

Anne Pitre 228.382.2086

Resurrection High School 2015 Football Team

Recognize the 2015 Resurrection Eagles Football Team for an excellent season and winning 
the South State Championship for their division

cwarren
Typewritten Text
3.



   



Agenda Number:  

2-2-16

City Clerk's Office

Curley Clark, President, 
J.C. Chapter of NAACP

Address Council re: need for diversity on Pascagoula-Gautier School Board

cwarren
Typewritten Text
4.



   



Agenda Number:  

February 2, 2016

Engineering

Jaci Turner 938-6726

Promenade Project - public comment and discussion

Public comment and discussion period to review project - particularly the shade structures and
fire pit amenities.

cwarren
Typewritten Text
5.



   



cwarren
Typewritten Text
6.







          

 

 

 

 

4015 14th Street       Phone: 228-938-6620    
Pascagoula, MS 39567      Fax:      228-938-6765  
 

To: Joe Huffman, City Manager 

 

From: Donovan Scruggs, AICP 

 

Date: January 26, 2016  

    RE: 709 Live Oak 

 

Over the past several months, this department and the City Attorney have worked with the new owner, Oliver Brown, 

toward a solution to renovate and salvage the structure at 709 Live Oak.  The property is encumbered by past 

judgements and liens that are fairly extensive.  The owner and his attorney have been trying to get these items resolved 

which are critical for any future use or conveyance of the property.  According to a recent update, progress is being 

made, but final resolution to this will take more time. Legal filings have occurred and the city has been served with 

required documents.  Additional time is necessary for the items to be resolved.   

 

Based on discussions with the City Attorney, it is my recommendation that we continue this item until the June 7, 2016, 

meeting of the City Council.   

 

 

 



cwarren
Typewritten Text
7.

























































For grants and contracts, attach two (2) originals for Mayor or Manager’s signature 
For ordinances, resolutions, or other correspondence, attach one (1) original for Mayor or Manager’s signature 

 
NOTE: ALL AGENDA REQUESTS MUST BE TURNED INTO THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE WITH 

ALL ATTACHMENTS NO LATER THAN 2PM ON THE WEDNESDAY PRECEDING THE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

 
AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 

 
Meeting Date:  February 2, 2016     

 
Submitting Department or Individual:  Parks & Recreation Department   

 
Contact Name:  Darcie Crew    Phone:  228‐938‐2356 

 

 

Agenda Topic:  Arbor Day Proclamation
Attach additional information as necessary 

 
Action Requested:   
Proclaim the second Friday  in February as Arbor Day  in correlation with Mississippi's designated Arbor Day. 
Authorize Mayor to execute the 2016 Arbor Day Proclamation. This proclamation will support the Tree City USA 
Designation.   

 
Budgeted Item  Yes    No    Source of Funding    General Fund 
 

Contract Required  Yes    No        Utility Fund 
 

Mayor or Manager’s Signature Required  Yes    No        Grant 
 

              Other 

 

cwarren
Typewritten Text
Agenda Number: 8



 

 

 
Whereas,  In 1872, J. Sterling Morton proposed to the Nebraska Board of Agriculture that a 
  special day be set aside for the planting of trees, and  
 
Whereas,  In 1926, Mississippi adopted the second Friday in February as the official day 
  of observance for Arbor Day.  
 
Whereas,  Arbor Day is now observed throughout the nation and the world, and  
 
Whereas,  trees are a renewable resource giving us paper, wood for homes, fuel for our 
  fires, and countless other wood products, and  
 
Whereas,  trees in our city increase property values, enhance the economic vitality of  
  business areas, and beautify our community, and  
 
Whereas,  trees, wherever they are planted, are a source of joy and spiritual renewal  
 
 

Now, Therefore, I, ___Harry J. Blevins_______, Mayor of the City of Pascagoula  

  
 do hereby proclaim the ____second Friday in February ____as  
 
 
 
 
 
 

In the City of Pascagoula, I urge all citizens to celebrate Arbor Day and support efforts to                 
  protect our trees and woodlands, and 
 
Further, I urge all citizens to plant trees to gladden the heart and promote well-being of this 
  and future generations. 
 

  Dated this _2nd_ day of  ___February,   2016 

 
 
  Mayor ____________________________ 

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&docid=JzIb9u6Rqt95iM&tbnid=Dv08s0S6leDiFM:&ved=0CAUQjRw&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.dieterich.k12.il.us%2Fholidays%2FArborday%2Findex.html&ei=d8JvUsLjL5LrkQe6uoFg&bvm=bv.55123115,d.e


cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text

cwarren
Typewritten Text
9.





cwarren
Typewritten Text
10







   



Agenda Number:  

2/2/16

City Manager/Public Relations

Anne Pitre 228.382.2086

Discover South Mississippi Advertising Contract

Approve renewal of Discover South Mississippi (formerly See South Mississippi) advertising 
contract for quarterly full page ads

✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
11.





Agenda Number:  

02-02-2016

Community and Economic Development

Jen Dearman 228-938-6651

Zonta MOU

Authorize City Manager to execute Zonta MOU.

✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
12



 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

This Memorandum of Understanding (Agreement) is entered into by and between the 

City of Pascagoula (City) as represented by its Community Events Coordinator (CEC) and 

Zonta Club of Pascagoula Area (Zonta).  Zonta is represented in this Agreement by and 

through its duly authorized President.  This agreement supercedes and replaces all prior 

agreements between the parties and any amendments thereafter. 

The purpose of this Agreement is to set forth the duties and responsibilities of the parties 

with respect to the Zonta Festival (Festival) which is held in the City annually on the first 

Saturday in October. 

I. Zonta Responsibilities  

1. Zonta shall furnish a diagram of vendor spaces for the Festival to the CEC no later 

than two (2) months prior to the Festival. 

2. Zonta shall advise the CEC of the electrical service needs and any other utility 

services that might be necessary during the Festival two months prior to the 

Festival. 

3. Zonta acknowledges that while vendor locations are pre-sold, due to ongoing City 

projects, Zonta understands (and shall advise each vendor) that no guarantee can 

be, or will be, given to any vendor that the initial location assigned to such vendor 

will be available on the day of the Festival.   

4. Zonta agrees that it shall allocate one ten-foot by ten-foot space to each Merchant 

along the Festival route at no charge to the Merchant (the "Merchant Free Space").   

5. Zonta agrees that it shall allocate one ten-foot by ten-foot space to the Pascagoula 

Fire Department for the purpose of a first aid station.  This space will be as 

centralized as possible within the Festival area. 

6. Zonta shall furnish the CEC with the contact information for the President and 

Festival Chairperson.  Contact information shall include the name, residence 

address, office address (if any), email address and all phone numbers where such 

contact person can be reached. 

7. Zonta shall not, under any circumstances, make any representations or warranties 

to any vendors or Festival participants with respect to use of City facilities. 

II. The City Responsibilities 

1. The City shall furnish Zonta with the contact information for the CEC. 

2. Two weeks before the Festival the City shall: 



 

i. Place the Zonta banner at the Pascagoula City sign at Pascagoula Street and 

Highway 90 as well as other locations in the City ROW. 

3. By Wednesday preceding the Festival the City shall: 

i. Make certain that all available outside electrical outlets and lights are in good 

working order. 

ii. Make certain that the grass is cut, weed eating is completed, and hedges are 

trimmed and treated for ants throughout the Festival area. 

iii. Sweep all streets in the Festival area. 

iv. Furnish labor to move the flower planters to the backside of the sidewalks next 

to the buildings, to remove the decorative chains and move the benches back 

against the buildings. 

4. By Friday preceding the Festival the City shall: 

i. Turn off all sprinklers in the downtown area. 

ii. Flush, clean, and add vanilla D to sewers in Festival area. 

iii. Deliver and chain 25 picnic tables at an agreed upon location.  This number 

may change in the future based on the number of picnic tables the City has in 

its inventory. The City shall leave a key to the chain locks with the CEC for a 

Zonta member to pick up Friday afternoon immediately preceding the 

Festival. 

iv. Make certain that the outside restroom behind Arts on the Avenue is cleaned 

and adequately stocked with toilet paper and paper towels.   The key to the 

restroom shall be left with the CEC so that a Zonta member can pick it up on 

Friday afternoon preceding the Festival. 

v. Furnish barricades by Friday preceding the Festival throughout the 

downtown area to:  

a. block the streets involved in the Festival,  

b. enclose the children's area on the northeast corner of Magnolia Street 

and Delmas Avenue 

c. enclose pony area, and  

d. block the alleyway between Scranton's Restaurant and the Boland 

Building to prevent parking in that area. 

vi. Make certain that all City vehicles and City employee vehicles are removed 



 

from the north parking lot at City Hall by 5:00PM on Friday preceding the 

Festival.  The parking lot shall be barricaded by the City at 10:00PM on that 

date. 

vii. Deliver two sets of bleachers each to the Library and the old Hancock Bank 

parking lot and one set to First Baptist Church parking lot. 

2. Day of the Festival the City shall: 

i. Have an electrician available to assist vendors with their electrical hook-ups. 

ii. Furnish employees who will be assigned to work the trash truck.  To this end, 

the City shall purchase trash liners to make certain that garbage cans are 

emptied and placed in the receptacle holders in the Festival area and at key 

locations throughout the Festival area on the Friday immediately preceding 

the Festival. 

iii. Cover all sewer openings throughout Festival area. 

iv. Provide electrical tripods for children’s area and stage area. 

v. Provide water truck for animal area. 

vi. Provide one three-prong water spigot for fountain. 

vii. Have vanilla D on hand. 

viii. Provide Police Department support for traffic and crowd control. 

III. Miscellaneous 

1. The City expressly disclaims any responsibility for the selling of vendor locations 

and the assignment of same to various vendors. 

2. Both parties to this Agreement covenant and agree to maintain open lines of 

communication throughout the year in an effort to ensure the success of the 

Festival.   

3. Both parties reserve the right to terminate this Agreement at any time for breach of 

the terms hereunder if such breach is not cured within thirty (30) days of receipt of 

written notice by the breaching party, which notice shall describe such breach in 

reasonable detail.  This Agreement may be altered or amended from time to time as 

the need arises; however, such alterations or amendments shall be in writing and 

shall be properly approved and executed by the appropriate representatives of each 

of the parties hereto. 

4. Both parties acknowledge the City’s in-kind contributions being in excess of $6,500 



 

in exchange for a successful community event that draws over 10,000 visitors. 

5. The parties acknowledge that the availability of City personnel to perform the duties 

imposed by this Agreement may be subject to unforeseen emergencies that could 

require the diversion of such personnel to other job sites before or during the 

Festival.  The City covenants and agrees that it will exert its best efforts to provide 

the necessary personnel to perform all of the duties assumed by the City in this 

Agreement. 

6. The term of this Agreement shall be for a period of one (1) year from January  1 of 

each calendar  year hereof  and shall automatically renew  annually  on the same 

date unless one party notifies  the other party in writing  that it does not want to 

renew  prior to the beginning of such renewal  period.   Notice of nonrenewal shall be 

sent no less than thirty (30) days prior to the end of each calendar year. 

 

WITNESS THE SIGNATURES OF THE PARTIES on this the ____ day of _____________, 

2015 

 

Zonta Club of Pascagoula Area  City of Pascagoula 

 

 

_________________________   _________________________ 

President     City Manager 



   



For grants and contracts, attach two (2) originals for Mayor or Manager’s signature 
For ordinances, resolutions, or other correspondence, attach one (1) original for Mayor or Manager’s signature 

 
NOTE: ALL AGENDA REQUESTS MUST BE TURNED INTO THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE WITH 

ALL ATTACHMENTS NO LATER THAN 2PM ON THE WEDNESDAY PRECEDING THE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

 
AGENDA ITEM REQUEST FORM 

 
Meeting Date:  February 2, 2016     

 
Submitting Department or Individual:  Parks & Recreation Department   

 
Contact Name:  Darcie Crew    Phone:  228‐938‐2356 

 

 

Agenda Topic:  Closeout Documents for Point Park Pervious Concrete Paving 2015
Attach additional information as necessary 

 
Action Requested:   
Authorize the City Manager to execute documents related to the Point Park Pervious Concrete Project to include 
the  Change  Order  #2  as  final.    This  is  a  deductive  change  order  in  the  amount  of  ‐$6,824.94.  Accept  the 
contractor's affidavit of release of claims and waiver of leins, consent of surety to final payment and payment 
application no. 3 as final. Authorize a manual check to be issued to DCD Construction, Inc. in the amount of 
$3,720.40.  
Staff has inspected the project and feels the work was completed in a satisfactory manner and recommends 
the closure of this project.    

 
Budgeted Item  Yes    No    Source of Funding    General Fund 
 

Contract Required  Yes    No        Utility Fund 
 

Mayor or Manager’s Signature Required  Yes    No        Grant 
 

              Other 

 

cwarren
Typewritten Text
Agenda Number: 13

















Agenda Number:  

02-02-2016

Community and Economic Development

Jen Dearman 228-938-6651

Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice 2015

Adopt the Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice 2015 as required in association with
the City's Community Development Block Grant annual entitlement funds.

✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
14



 

 1 

 
 
 
 

______________________________________________________ 
 
 

Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice 2015 
 

______________________________________________________ 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Prepared By: 
The Chaucer Group LLC 

Washington, D.C. 
October 2015 

 
 

 
 
 
 



 

 2 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
             
                    PAGE 
 

 
INTRODUCTION        3 
 
RESEARCH METHODOLOGY       3 
 
OVERVIEW OF IMPEDIMENTS TO FAIR HOUSING CHOICE   3 
 
OVERVIEW OF FEDERAL FAIR HOUSING LAWS    4 
 
OVERLAPPING FEDERAL FAIR HOUSING LAWS    5 
 
HOUSING EXEMPT FROM THE FEDERAL FAIR HOUSING LAWS  5 
 
IMPEDIMENTS AND MITIGANTS TO FAIR HOUSING CHOICE IN   6 

PASCAGOULA, MS  
 
FAIR HOUSING COMPLAINT PROCESS IN PASCAGOULA, MS   8 
 
RECENT U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE CASES IN THE STATE   10 
  OF MISSISSIPPI       
 
ENFORCING THE FAIR HOUSING LAWS     12 
 
INVESTIGATING HOUSING DISCRIMINATION     13 
 
TESTING RESULTS IN PASCAGOULA, MS AND GULF COAST OF MS  14 
 
DEMOGRAPHICS OF CITY OF PASCAGOULA, MS    14 
 
HOME MORTGAGE DISCLOSURE ACT (HMDA)     17 
 
HMDA DATA FOR THE CITY OF PASCAGOULA, MS    19 
 
OVERCOMING DATA LIMITATIONS WITH REGARD TO HMDA   27 
 

 
 



 

 3 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The City of Pascagoula, Mississippi is committed to affirmatively furthering fair housing.  The 
creation of the City’s Department of Community and Economic Development as the lead agency 
for all matters related to housing has enabled the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi to effectively 
preserve quality affordable housing for all of its residents.  As an entitlement city and therefore 
receiving federal funding from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), 
the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi is required to analyze impediments to fair housing choice 
and then take action to cure the impediments.  The Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing 
Choice (AI) is designed to assist the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi in its efforts to quickly 
overcome the impediments which prevent residents from acquiring equal access to safe, 
decent, desirable and affordable housing opportunities throughout the city. 
 
Entitlement cities, such as Pascagoula, Mississippi, that receive federal funding from HUD must 
also prepare and submit a five-year Consolidated Plan to HUD in which the entitlement city 
identities their housing goals, objectives and plans for a five-year period.  The Consolidated Plan 
is then approved by HUD for funding.  HUD also uses the Consolidated Plan as an evaluation 
tool to determine if the goals, objectives and plans were successfully implemented.  Both the AI 
and the Consolidated Plan are used by HUD to ensure that the federal funding is expended in a 
manner that ensures compliance in the implementation of federal housing policies. 
 

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY 
 
This AI involves a thorough examination of a variety of data related to housing, particularly for 
persons who are protected under the Fair Housing Laws.  Census data along with American 
Community Survey data, employment and income information, home mortgage data, fair 
housing complaint information and other related information found in the public domain was 
reviewed and analyzed.  The three (3) approaches taken to complete this AI are as follows: 
 

 Primary Research or the review of existing data and studies. 

 Secondary Research or the evaluation of objective, measurable and numerical data. 

 Qualitative Research or the evaluation and assessment of subjective data such as 
individuals’ beliefs, opinions, and experiences. 

 
OVERVIEW OF IMPEDIMENTS TO FAIR HOUSING CHOICE 

 
According to HUD, impediments of fair housing choice are defined as any actions, omissions, or 
decisions that restrict, or have the effect of restricting, the availability of housing choices based 
on race, color, religion, sex, age (does not apply to minors), disability, familial status or national 
origin.  After the AI has been completed, the entitlement city must create mitigants to the 
impediments to fair housing choice that serve as deterrents to restricting, in any way, housing 
choices based on the aforementioned protected classes.  
 



 

 4 

OVERVIEW OF THE FEDERAL FAIR HOUSING LAWS 
 
Federal fair housing laws prohibit discrimination in the housing sector.  Fair housing laws apply 
in a given situation based on the following questions: 
 

1. Is the person covered under the protected classes? 
2. Is the property covered? 
3. Is the behavior covered? 

 
If the answer is “yes” to any of these questions, then the federal fair housing laws apply.  It is 
important to note that the federal housing laws superseded local and state fair housing laws; so 
if the federal fair housing laws apply, then one must assume that the local and state fair 
housing laws are also applicable. 
 
Federal fair housing laws protects all people and prohibits discrimination in housing and related 
services on the basis of the following protected classes: race, age (does not apply to minors), 
color, national origin, religion, physical or mental disability, sex and familial status. 
 
Federal fair housing laws apply to the occupancy, sale, rental, insurance or financing of all forms 
of residential housing, including apartments, single-family homes, mobile homes, nursing 
homes, homeless shelters, vacant lots to be used for housing, and homeowners who are selling 
or renting property. 
 
Under the federal fair housing laws, behavior is covered if it results in either differential 
treatment of or disparate impact on the members of a protected class.  Differential treatment is 
the negative treatment of a person because of his or her membership in a protected class.  
Disparate impact occurs when a policy or a system that may not have been designed with 
discriminatory intent, but nonetheless does have a discriminatory effect on members of a 
protected class. 
 
The following examples of behavior is illegal if it is taken because the person is a member of a 
protected class: 
 

 Refusing to sell or rent after the making of a bona fide offer. 

 Refusing to negotiate for the sale or rental of, or otherwise make unavailable or deny, a 
dwelling. 

 Discriminating against any person in terms, conditions, or privileges of sale or rental of 
dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities. 

 Discriminating against any person in the terms or conditions of any residential real 
estate related transaction. 

 Making, printing or publishing, or causing to be made, printed or published, any notice, 
statement or advertisement, concerning the sale or rental of a dwelling where such 



 

 5 

notice statement or advertisement indicates any preferences, limitation or 
discrimination. 

 Representing to any person that any dwelling is not available for inspection, sale, or 
rental when such dwelling is in fact available. 

 Steering any buyer or renter to purchase or rent a dwelling to an area that is 
substantially populated, even if by less than a majority, by persons of the same 
protected class as the buyer or renter. 

 Inducing or attempting to induce any person to sell or rent any dwelling for profit by 
representations regarding entry or prospective entry into the neighborhood of a person 
or persons protected from discrimination. 

 Refusing to make reasonable accommodations in rules, policies or practices. 

 Refusing to permit reasonable modifications by an individual with a disability. 
 

OVERLAPPING FEDERAL FAIR HOUSING LAWS 
 
There are two (2) other federal fair housing laws that protect people with disabilities from 
discrimination and demand affirmative steps to promote integration.  The two (2) laws are as 
follows: 
 

 Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 prohibits discrimination against people 
with disabilities in all federally funded programs. 

 Congress protected the rights of people with disabilities when it passed the Americans 
with Disabilities Act (ADA) in 1990.  The ADA is designed to protect people with 
disabilities from discrimination in public accommodations and employment.  ADA 
prohibits discrimination by governments and governmental units including housing 
authorities.  This includes actions that can deny people with disabilities and access to 
housing programs.  In addition, ADA is applicable to the portions of housing complexes 
that are open to the public.  This can include rental or sales offices, parking lots, 
community buildings that are open to the public as well as sidewalks, entrances and 
hallways to which the public has access. 

 

HOUSING EXEMPT FROM THE FEDERAL FAIR HOUSING LAWS 
 
The following housing is exempt from the federal fair housing laws: 
 

1. Elderly housing (exempt from familial status discrimination only). 
2. Owner-occupied units with less than four dwellings. 

 
 
 
 



 

 6 

IMPEDIMENTS AND MITIGANTS TO FAIR HOUSING CHOICE IN PASCAGOULA, 
MISSISSIPPI 
 
The federal fair housing laws and the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, as amended in 1974 and 
1988, outlaw housing discrimination.  These laws were passed in response to cases filed, 
testimony given and evidence collected that Blacks, Hispanics and Asians were being targeted 
differently with regard to their efforts to rent housing or secure mortgage loans. 
 
In the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi, the following impediments to fair housing choice have 
been identified: 
 
IMPEDIMENT 1: Lack of Local or State Fair Housing Agency   
Populations of color that fall into the protected classes under the federal fair housing laws have 
a tremendous need for safe, decent, affordable and sanitary housing. There is no organization 
dedicated to fair housing that actively conducts fair housing education and outreach or 
enforcement activities for Pascagoula residents.  Due to the fact that there is not a dedicated 
Fair Housing Center in Mississippi and HUD funding for enforcement is awarded to different 
agencies each year, the number of racial discrimination fair housing complaints has dropped 
substantially. Additionally there is no state fair housing agency in the State of Mississippi.   

MITIGANT 1:  The City will make referrals to the Mississippi Center for Justice, 
Mississippi Center for Legal Services, and the University of Southern Mississippi Institute 
for Disabilities Studies by instructing residents who feel they have experienced housing 
discrimination to contact the aforementioned agencies. 
MITIGANT 2: The City will provide education and outreach materials which explain how 
to file a Fair Housing Complaint with HUD.  These materials include the TTY phone 
number.  
 

IMPEDIMENT 2: Affordable Housing  
The City of Pascagoula, Mississippi’s efforts to supply affordable housing reflect the nation’s 
struggle with poverty clustering and racial segregation.  The numerous strategies to promote 
affordable housing over the years have focused on the creation of affordable housing units 
rather than locating the affordable housing in a diversity of neighborhoods.  The City of 
Pascagoula, Mississippi needs additional federal funding to allow for the development of 
affordable housing. 

MITIGANT 1: The City will identify affordable housing options with private sector 
developers in hopes of securing a deal that meets the needs of the City. 
MITIGANT 2:  The City will pursue funding that would increase its affordable housing 
stock. Examples of program funding include, but are not limited to, the HOME Program 
and the Choice Neighborhoods Planning and Action Program.   
MITIGANT 3: To address the accessibility needs of the disabled, the City will provide 
education materials to the public on reasonable modifications and accommodations and 
makes referrals to Living Independence for Everyone (LIFE) to assist with requests to 
landlords.  



 

 7 

 
IMPEDIMENT 3: Limited English Proficiency  
According to the 2010 Census, the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi, has an 11% Latino 
population. Persons with limited English proficiency who are struggling with language barriers 
preclude individuals from seeking housing options of choice as well as being educated about 
their rights under the federal fair housing law.  The City of Pascagoula, Mississippi is no 
different and its challenge is to try to balance the pendulum of resident concerns about 
immigration upon the local economy, housing, and the cultural needs of immigrants with 
regard to living patterns and occupancy standards. 

MITIGANT 1: The City will distribute Spanish translated education and outreach 
materials on the topics of basic fair housing rights, predatory lending, reasonable 
accommodations and modifications. Materials will be distributed at City departments, 
local stores, restaurants, churches with Spanish services and as utility bill inserts.  
MITIGANT 2: If a person with limited English proficiency needs assistance, the City will 
provide translation services in person or through a telephone service. 
MITIGANT 3: In the City’s CDBG public participation advertising, the City will include 
instructions in Spanish indicating how to participate in the process.  

 
IMPEDIMENT 4: Lack of Fair Housing Rights Awareness  
Many residents are not aware of their rights under the federal fair housing law in addition to 
not realizing where to secure such services. This is an unmet need and an impediment to Fair 
Housing. 

MITIGANT 1: The City will proclaim each April fair housing month.  
MITIGANT 2: The City will host an annual Fair Housing Workshop.   
MITIGANT 3: The City will distribute English and Spanish flyers through the City’s utility 
bill to 6,800 business and households. Topics will include basic fair housing rights, 
predatory lending, reasonable accommodations and modifications. Additionally, 
materials will explain where to go to file a complaint and how to do so. 
MITIGANT 4:  The City will make referrals to the Mississippi Center for Justice, 
Mississippi Center for Legal Services, and the University of Southern Mississippi Institute 
for Disabilities Studies by instructing residents who feel they have experienced housing 
discrimination to contact the aforementioned agencies. 

 
IMPEDIMENT 5: Lack of Public Transit  
There is a lack of public transit in the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi.  This serves as a major 
impediment to fair housing choice in that individuals are limited to residing in certain 
neighborhoods based on their transportation options.  By transportation options, residents 
often live where they can ride-share with neighbors, friends or family.  The lack of public transit 
in Pascagoula, Mississippi has contributed to clusters of low-income housing in neighborhoods 
where other transportation and housing options do not exist. Adopted in 2010, the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan identifies the need to “encourage the development of convenient, 
reasonable economic public transit options to serve the mobility needs of all segments of the 
population 



 

 8 

MITIGANT 1: The City will aggressively support local and regional efforts to implement 
inclusive affordable public transportation. 
MITIGANT 2: The City will pursue funding that can be utilized for public transportation 
feasibility studies and implementation.  
MITIGANT 3: The City will utilize its partnership with the local Metropolitan Planning 
Organization to identify opportunities to plan and implement public transportation. 

 

FAIR HOUSING COMPLAINT PROCESS IN PASCAGOULA, MISSISSIPPI 
 
There are many factors that influence housing discrimination including knowledge of the 
federal fair housing laws and access to organizations that can assist with enforcing the federal 
fair housing laws.  Complaints can be filed through local organizations, directly with HUD, or 
through the Department of Justice.  
 
The fair housing complaint process in Pascagoula, Mississippi is similar to HUD’s process in that 
organizations such as the Mississippi Center for Justice, Mississippi Center for Legal Services 
and the University of Southern Mississippi Institute for Disabilities Studies staff accepts calls 
from complainants and formerly assists them in filing a complaint.  An allegation is considered 
filed once a signed and notarized copy of the complaint is received.  If enforcement funding is 
available and the staff of the aforementioned organizations is then able to gather information 
about the alleged illegal activity, it performs an investigation. 
 
The HUD fair housing complaint process begins when an individual, who believes that he/she 
has experienced housing discrimination, calls HUD.  HUD staff then conducts an interview with 
the complainant and drafts a complaint, which is signed by the complainant making the 
allegation.  HUD does not consider an allegation a filed case until the complainant has signed 
the complaint form. 
 
The Civil Rights Division of the Department of Justice enforces civil rights laws in a variety of 
contexts.  Information in this section can be used to find the appropriate way to submit a 
complaint of discrimination or report of a potential civil rights violation.  If an individual has any 
questions, he/she can contact the Civil Rights Division at  (888) 736-5551 or (202) 514-3847. 
 
 An individual can file an Americans with Disabilities Act complaint alleging disability 
discrimination against an individual, State or local government, or a public accommodation by 
mail or e-mail.  An individual can learn more about filing an ADA complaint by visiting 
www.ada.gov/filing_complaint.htm.  You can call or fax your complaint to the U.S. Department 
of Justice, 950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Civil Rights Division, Disability Rights Section, 
Washington, D.C. 20530.  Fax: (202) 307-1197.  Telephone number is (202) 307-0663. 
 
Individuals who believe that they have been victims of housing discrimination can file a 
complaint with the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) or file their own 
lawsuit in federal or state court.  Individuals must file the complaint with HUD within one year 

http://www.ada.gov/filing_complaint.htm


 

 9 

of the incident they believe to be housing discrimination.  Individuals also have two years to file 
their own lawsuit in federal court. 
 
The Mississippi Center for Legal Services states that the only protection for residents of 
Pascagoula, Mississippi is the federal fair housing law.  The Mississippi Center for Legal Services, 
Mississippi Center for Justice, and the University of Southern Mississippi Institute for Disabilities 
Studies provide assistance to residents filing complaints of discrimination.   
 
During the past year, the Mississippi Center for Legal Services has processed nine (9) cases and 
all of these cases were rental housing discrimination cases.  Additionally, one complainant filed 
a complaint with HUD and this case has not been adjudicated as of yet.  The other nine (9) 
cases have been taken into investigation with three (3) of the nine cases classified as on-going 
investigations.  The remaining six (6) cases are awaiting a decision by the complainants as to 
whether or not to proceed forward with adjudication. 
 
Discrimination as it pertains to private sector rental housing and public housing rental housing 
is the primary source of the complaints recently received over the past two years.  The basis for 
fair housing complaints in the Mississippi Gulf Coast are as follows: 
 

BASIS      CASES 
Race      5 
Color      4 
National Origin    0 
Religion     0 
Sex      0 
Disability     0 
Familial Status     0 
Age      0 
 
Total Cases     9 

 
Both HUD and the fair housing organizations report that fair housing education plays a major 
role in the number of complaints they receive on an annual basis.  A study of national trends in 
fair housing released by HUD indicates that many individuals across the county who felt that 
they had been subjected to discrimination, but did not take action, is due to their belief that 
pursuing a complaint of discrimination would not have helped them in any way.  Other 
individuals stated that they were not aware of their rights under the federal fair housing laws.  
In addition, the majority of the fair housing staff across the country is devoted to fair housing 
investigations and advocacy, rather than fair housing education. 

 
 
 
 



 

 10 

RECENT U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE CASES IN THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI 
 
There were several cases adjudicated by the U.S. Department of Justice in the state of 
Mississippi with regard to fair housing. The Department of Justice has filed six (6) complaints 
against housing providers in the State of Mississippi within the past five years.  Three (3) of 
these complaints included allegations that the housing provider or defendant discriminated 
against the plaintiff on the basis of familial status; two complaints cited discrimination on the 
basis of disability; and one complaint cited racial discrimination.  Each of these cases is 
summarized below. 
 
United States v. Bryan Company 
In May 2011, the Department of Justice filed a lawsuit against a group of housing owners, 
developers and designer who had been involved in the construction of 2,000 apartment units in 
multi-family housing complexes in Mississippi, Louisiana and Tennessee.  Included in these 
multi-family complexes were 800 ground floor units that are required by the federal Fair 
Housing Law to include accessible features.  The U.S. Department of Justice alleged that these 
apartment units were inaccessible to persons with disabilities, meaning a lack of accessible 
pedestrian routes, parking spaces, entry doorways, light switches, kitchens and bathrooms.  The 
leasing offices were also alleged to be inaccessible. 
 
The case against the Bryan Company was settled in February 2014.  The terms of the settlement 
required that the Company make extensive retrofits to the properties to bring them into 
compliance with federal accessibility requirements.  In addition, nine (9) architects and civil 
engineers who were involved with the project were required to pay $60,000 in compensation 
to those who had been harmed by the inaccessible conditions of the property. 
 
United States v. Dawn Properties, Inc. 
 In May 2014, the U.S. Department of Justice filed a complaint against Dawn Properties, a 
Mississippi-based developer.  In the complaint, the U.S. Department of Justice alleged that the 
developer failed to design and build five (5) multi-family complexes in compliance with 
accessibility requirements included in the federal fair housing law and the Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA). 
 
In filing the suit, the U.S. Department of Justice is seeking a court order that will require that 
the properties designed and constructed since 1991 be brought in to compliance with both the 
federal fair housing law and ADA.  The suit also seeks monetary damages for those who have 
been harmed by the developer’s alleged failure to include accessible features in the design and 
construction of those five (5) properties. 
 
United States v. Kelly 
In November 2010, the U.S. Department of Justice filed a complaint against Kelly, the on-site 
property manager of Shamrock Apartments in Vicksburg, Mississippi.  In the complaint, the U.S. 
Department of Justice alleges that the on-site property manager discriminated against the 
tenant, a white woman and mother of a bi-racial daughter, on the basis of race.  The 



 

 11 

discriminatory behavior began after the on-site property manager met the tenant’s daughter 
and subsequently asked another white tenant to let her know if the tenant had any black 
visitors.  On several occasions thereafter, the tenant had a visitor at her apartment that was 
black.  Following one of these visits, she was informed by the on-site property manager that 
neighbors had complained about her visitor and that she was not allowed to have visitors who 
were not listed on her lease.  This prohibition was only applied to the tenant.    On another 
occasion, the same visitor arrived at her apartment in the morning and knocked on the tenant’s 
door.  Neighbors of the tenant called the police and the next day the on-site property manager 
informed the tenant that she was going to be evicted due to the visit from the police the night 
before.  By contrast, the police had visited another tenant, who was white, without receiving an 
eviction notice. 
 
When the tenant’s lease was not renewed, she filed a complaint with the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Development (HUD), who referred the matter to the U.S. Department of 
Justice.  The U.S. Department of Justice and the on-site property manager settled the complaint 
in March 2012.  As a condition of the settlement, the on-site property manager was required to 
refrain from further discriminatory acts, adopt a non-discrimination policy and post a fair 
housing poster on the property, pay the tenant and her daughter $17,500 in monetary 
damages, and undergo training in fair housing and non-discrimination policy. 
 
United States v. Magee 
On April 17, 2013, the U.S. Department of Justice settled a case against a property owner and 
his affiliates. The defendants had been accused of discrimination on the basis of familial status.  
According to the original complaint, which was filed on November 17, 2011, the defendants 
informed the complainant, a woman with four children, that she could not rent a three-
bedroom home that was available for lease because she had too many children.  The 
defendants, who owned the home in question along with several others, had established an 
occupancy policy that limited three-bedroom homes to three children.  The defendants 
informed the complainant that they had a four-bedroom home that she could rent.   
 
During the course of its investigation, HUD attempted to help the parties conciliate the 
complaint without success.  The case was settled in April of 2013 and as a condition of the 
settlement, the defendants are required to forebear from any discriminatory acts, provide a 
public notice of non-discriminatory practices, undergo mandatory training, keep records, and 
make reports detailing their compliance with the terms of the settlement.  In addition, the 
defendants had to pay a total $27,000 in damages and civil penalties. 
 
United States v. Mercker 
In May 2006, a family of two (2) adults and five (5) children moved from a two-bedroom 
apartment into a three-bedroom single family home in Gulfport, Mississippi.  As the family was 
moving in, the owner of the home, the defendant, arrived to perform an announced inspection 
of recent repairs that had been made to the units.  Having seen the family unpacking, the 
owner subsequently instructed the property manager to get those people out because they are 
going to tear up my house.  The defendant claimed that the family size exceeded the occupancy 



 

 12 

policy for the unit, though this policy had not been articulated in writing and was more 
restrictive than local occupancy standards.  The family filed a fair housing complaint with HUD 
in September 2006. 
 
The federal court entered a consent decree in this case on April 11, 2012.  As a condition of the 
settlement, the defendant is required to allow the maximum number of occupants permitted 
under local occupancy codes; notify all applicants that all units are available for rent on a non-
discriminatory basis; undergo mandatory training; keep records and make reports detailing 
their compliance with the terms of the settlement; and pay the complainants $6,000 in 
damages resulting from the alleged denial of their rights under the Fair Housing Law. 
 
United States v. Penny Pincher, Inc. 
In January 2009, a Mississippi resident (complainant) with a husband and three children filed 
two complaints with HUD; one against a housing provider in Biloxi, who had advertised a home 
available for rent to individuals or couples without children; and the other against the weekly 
newspaper, the Penny Pincher, that had run the advertisements.  The complainant reported 
one of the advertisements to the Gulf Coast Fair Housing Center, who sent a tester to inquire 
about the property.  In a conversation with the tester, the housing providers made other 
comments indicating their unwillingness to rent the home to a family with children, according 
to the HUD complaint.  Having conducted an investigation and along with attempts to help the 
parties reach reconciliation on the matter without success, HUD found that there was 
reasonable cause to believe that housing discrimination had occurred and referred the matter 
to the Attorney General. 
 
The Department of Justice settled the complaint with Penny Pincher in August 2011.  As a 
condition of the settlement, the newspaper was enjoined from publishing discriminatory 
advertising and required to adopt and publish a non-discrimination policy, to undergo 
mandatory training, and to pay $10,000 in damages to the Gulf Coast Fair Housing Center and 
$1,500 to the woman who reported the advertisement to the Gulf Coast Fair Housing Center, 
among other requirements.  In addition, the U.S. Department of Justice settled its complaint 
with the property owners, the other defendants in this case, in December 2011.  The terms of 
the settlement were similar to the terms of the settlement with Penny Pincher; as monetary 
relief, the owners were required to pay $2,000 to the newspaper and $500 to the woman who 
had reported the discriminatory advertisement. 
  

ENFORCING THE FAIR HOUSING LAWS 
 
The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) oversees, administers and 
enforces the Fair Housing Act and Federal Fair Housing Laws.  The Southeast Regional Office of 
HUD oversees housing, community development, and fair housing enforcement in Mississippi. 
 
Some agencies receive funding from HUD as Fair Housing Assistance Programs (FHAPs).  HUD 
also funds Fair Housing Initiatives Programs (FHIPs).  The fundamental difference between the 
two programs is that FHAPs require an ordinance or law that empowers a governmental agency 



 

 13 

to enforce the Fair Housing Laws and Fair Housing Act.  They are thus considered substantially 
equivalent to federal agency enforcement activities.  HUD contracts with that agency to process 
fair housing complaints and reimburse the jurisdiction on a per case basis. 
 
FHIPs, on the other hand, can be a government agency, a private non-profit organization, or a 
for-profit organization.  FHIPs is a competitive grant program that provides funds to 
organizations to carry out projects and activities designed to enforce and enhance compliance 
with the Federal Fair Housing Act and Federal Fair Housing Laws.  Eligible activities include 
education and outreach to the public and housing industry on fair housing rights and 
responsibilities, and enforcement of fair housing complaints, including testing and litigation. 

 
The filing of a complaint of discrimination on the Mississippi Gulf Coast is determined by filing 
the complaint with the HUD Region IV FHEO Office.  Local fair housing agencies in the 
Mississippi Gulf Coast files the complaint with HUD or the Department of Justice depending on 
the case and the avenue it is felt that would have the better outcome for the individual who 
experienced the discrimination. 
 

INVESTIGATING HOUSING DISCRIMINATION 
 
Fair housing testing is a method of determining if housing discrimination has occurred or is 
occurring in a housing market.  In June 2013, HUD released two significant studies on housing 
discrimination nationwide.  The first study examined over 8,000 fair housing tests conducted by 
non-Hispanic White testers paired with Black, Hispanic and Asian testers all over the country.  
This study revealed that housing discrimination still exists all over the country, although in a 
less obvious manner. For example, in some tests both testers were informed about housing at 
the same rate but the minority tester was shown fewer available housing units.  When HUD 
conducted a similar test in 1977, it was determined that the minority tester would not even be 
told about available housing units. 
 
 The contrasts in treatment between minority and non-Hispanic White home seekers were 
stark.  In rental testing, compared to non-Hispanic Whites, Blacks were told about 11% fewer 
units and were shown 4% fewer units.  In home sales, with the same comparative factors, 
Blacks were told about 17% fewer housing units and shown 18% fewer units. 
 
This same study found similar differences for Hispanic testers looking for rental housing.  
Although the number of units they were told about and shown was no different between non-
Hispanic Whites and Hispanic homebuyers.  There were clear differences in the treatment 
received by Asian testers in both the rental and homebuyer markets as compared with non-
Hispanic White testing partners. 
 

 
 



 

 14 

TESTING RESULTS IN PASCAGOULA, MISSISSIPPI AND THE GULF COAST REGION 
OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI 
 
There is no evidence of the existence of rental and homebuyer testing and test results in both 
the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi and the Gulf Coast Region of the State of Mississippi.  
Extensive research concluded that no such testing or test results could be found.  Our research 
also concluded that privacy is very important in the Deep South and individuals are reluctant to 
speak about their personal affairs; respond to surveys; and most importantly, participate in fair 
housing testing. 
 
It is strongly recommended that systemic and complaint based rental and homebuyer testing 
be conducted along with enforcement activities and documenting the outcomes of 
enforcement actions.  It is important that landlords and property management companies are 
educated about fair housing laws.  Education can be accomplished by promoting the AI; holding 
annual Fair Housing Workshops to promote public understanding of the fair housing laws; and 
to affirmatively furthering fair housing in the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi. 
 

DEMOGRAPHICS OF THE CITY OF PASCAGOULA, MISSISSIPPI 
 
Pascagoula, Mississippi is a racially and ethnically diverse City, although according to the 2010 
Census Data, the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi has experienced a 13% decrease in total 
population.  In recent years, the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi along with other Gulf Coast 
cities has suffered from a series of devastating natural and economic disasters.  The City was 
severely damaged by Hurricane Katrina in 2005.  The aftermath of the storm has had far 
reaching and lasting consequences for this coastal city.  Many hardworking residents of the City 
have been unable or unwilling to rebuild their homes, resulting in large swaths of vacant land 
and resident exodus from the City.  The national recession in 2008 also complicated local 
challenges for the City.  In addition, the BP Oil Spill in 2010 negatively impacted the City with 
the economy, tourism and the seafood industry taking a big hit due to an extensive recovery 
period. 
 
The demographics for the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi for the base year 2000 reflect a 
population of 26,200; the number of households at 9,802; and the median income for residents 
living in the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi at $32,042. 
 
Demographic information for the most recent year of 2010 reflects a population of 22,392 (-
14% change); number of households at 8,481 (-16% change); and the median income for 
residents living in the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi was $41,829 (+31% change).  
 
      2000     2010 
Population by race is reflected below: 
American Indian/Alaska Native  47 (20%)   69 (.31%) 
Asian      253 (1.0%)   224 (1.00%) 



 

 15 

Black/African American   7,590 (29%)   7,317 (33%) 
Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific  6 (.00%)   14 (.06%) 
Some Other Race    437 (1.7%)   1,218 (5.4%) 
White      17,594 (67.2%)  13,169 (59%) 
 
Hispanic/Latino Origin   1,019 (4%)   2,472 (11%) 
Non-Hispanic/Latino Origin   25,818 (96.1%)  19,920 (89%) 
 
Population by Gender 
Female      12,984 (50.4%)  11,209 (50%) 
Male      13,216 (49.6%)  11,183 (50%) 
 
Population By Age 
Persons 0 to 4 Years    2,052 (8%)   1,710 (8%) 
Persons 5 to 17 Years    4,989 (19%)   4,080 (18%) 
Persons 18 to 64 Years   16,109 (61%)   13,909 (62%) 
Persons 65 Years and Over   3,107 (12%)   2,693 (12%) 
 
Disability Status Of Civilians (Non-Institutionalized Population) 

  With a Disability 

Total Civilian Non-Institutionalized Population 21,602 3,773 

Under 18 years 546 276 

18 Years to 64 Years 13,373 2,143 

65 Years and Over 2,823 1,354 

 
Business Sectors in City of Pascagoula, Mississippi 

Business by Sector 
Number 

of 
Workers 

Number 
of Jobs 

Share of 
Workers 

% 

Share 
of Jobs 

% 

Jobs less 
workers 

% 

Agriculture, Mining, Oil & Gas Extraction 181 40 2 0 -2 

Arts, Entertainment, Accommodations 1,086 794 13 4 -9 

Construction 858 1,593 10 8 -2 

Education and Health Care Services 943 988 11 5 -6 

Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate 483 566 6 3 -3 

Information 130 84 2 0 -2 

Manufacturing 1,907 11,528 22 58 36 

Other Services 209 282 2 1 -1 

Professional, Scientific, Management 
Services 595 1,228 7 6 -1 

Public Administration 0 0 0 0 0 

Retail Trade 1,525 1,849 18 9 -9 

Transportation and Warehousing 459 527 5 3 -2 

Wholesale Trade 265 238 3 1 -2 



 

 16 

Business by Sector 
Number 

of 
Workers 

Number 
of Jobs 

Share of 
Workers 

% 

Share 
of Jobs 

% 

Jobs less 
workers 

% 

Total 8,641 19,717 -- -- -- 

Data Source: 2007-2011 ACS (Workers), 2011 Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics 
(Jobs) 

 
Labor Force in The City of Pascagoula, Mississippi 

Total Population in the Civilian Labor Force 10,612 

Civilian Employed Population 16 years and over 9,702 

Unemployment Rate 8.58 

Unemployment Rate for Ages 16-24 12.60 

Unemployment Rate for Ages 25-65 5.85 

Data Source: 2007-2011 ACS 
 

Occupations by Sector Number of People 

Management, business and financial 1,812 

Farming, fisheries and forestry occupations 361 

Service 879 

Sales and office 2,246 

Construction, extraction, maintenance and repair 1,361 

Production, transportation and material moving 738 

Data Soure: 2007-2011 ACS 
 
Travel Time to Site of Employment in City of Pascagoula, Mississippi 

Travel Time Number Percentage 

< 30 Minutes 8,067 84% 

30-59 Minutes 1,230 13% 

60 or More Minutes 287 3% 

Total 9,584 100% 

Data Soure: 2007-2011 ACS 
 
Education Attainment in City of Pascagoula, Mississippi (Aged 16 and Older) 

Educational Attainment 
In Labor Force 

Not in Labor 
Force 

Civilian 
Employed 

Unemployed 

Less than high school graduate 679 208 770 

High school graduate (includes 
equivalency) 

2,293 252 1,137 

Some college or Associate's degree 2,997 191 850 

Bachelor's degree or higher 1,857 28 306 

Data Source: 2007-2011 ACS 
 



 

 17 

Educational Attainment by Age in City of Pascagoula, Mississippi 

 Age 

18–24  25–34  35–44  45–65  65+  

Less than 9th grade 78 69 97 351 190 

9th to 12th grade, no diploma 457 390 323 427 371 

High school graduate, GED, or 
alternative 

643 892 935 1,855 943 

Some college, no degree 849 770 736 1,287 667 

Associate's degree 245 370 320 572 52 

Bachelor's degree 28 279 472 799 283 

Graduate or professional degree 0 106 168 388 263 

Data Source: 2007-2011 ACS 
 
Educational Attainment – Median Earnings in the Past 12 Months 

Educational Attainment Median Earnings in the Past 12 Months 

Less than high school graduate $10,382 

High school graduate (includes equivalency) $25,265 

Some college or Associate's degree $31,985 

Bachelor's degree $39,382 

Graduate or professional degree $55,750 

  
The City of Pascagoula, Mississippi’s workforce is increasingly private sector driven with 
measured growth in certain business sectors. The City of Pascagoula, Mississippi has seen 
measured growth in certain business sectors.  The City of Pascagoula, Mississippi has seen 
growth in the small business and retail shopping sectors and the cultural arts. Based on 
comments received from some business owners in the City of Pascagoula, Mississippi, the 
needs of the business community are tax breaks and tax reductions with regard to 
development and revitalization of neighborhoods in the City. 
 

HOME MORTGAGE DISCLOSURE ACT (HMDA) 

Since 1970, the federal government has enacted several laws directed at promoting fair housing 
lending practices in the banking and financial services industries. Below is a summary of the 
laws aimed at protecting consumers as it pertains to the Federal Fair Housing Act and Federal 
Fair Housing Laws. 

 The 1968 Fair Housing Act prohibits discrimination in housing based on race, color, 
religion, and national origin.  Later amendments added sex, familial status and disability.  
Under the 1968 Fair Housing Act, it is illegal to discriminate against any of the protected 
classes in the following types of residential real estate transactions: making loans to 
buy, build or repair a dwelling; selling, brokering, or appraising residential real estate; 
and selling or renting a dwelling. 



 

 18 

 The Equal Credit Opportunity Act was passed in 1974 and prohibits discrimination in 
lending based on race, color, religion, national origin, sex, marital status, age, receipt of 
public assistance, and the exercise of any right under the Consumer Credit Protection 
Act. 

 The 1977 Community Reinvestment Act requires each federal financial supervisory 
agency to encourage financial institutions in order to help meet the credit needs of the 
entire community, including low and moderate income neighborhoods. 

 Under the 1975 Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (HMDA), and later amended, financial 
institutions are required to publicly disclose the race, sex, ethnicity, and household 
income of mortgage applicants by the Census Tract in which the loan is proposed as well 
as outcome of the loan application. 

HMDA requires both depository and non-depository lenders to collect and publicly disclose 
information about housing-related applications and loans.  Both types of lending institutions 
must meet the following set of reporting criteria: 

 The institution must be a bank or credit union. 

 The total assets must exceed the coverage threshold.  Each December, the Federal 
Reserve announces the threshold for the following year.  The asset threshold may 
change from year to year and it is based on changes in the Consumer Price Index for 
Urban Wage Earners and Clerical Workers. 

 The institution must have had an office in a Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA). 

 The institution must have originated at least one home purchase loan or refinancing of a 
home purchase loan secured by a first lien on a one-to four-family dwelling. 

 The institution must be federally insured or regulated. 

 The mortgage loan must have been insured, guaranteed or supplemented by a federal 
agency or intended for sale to the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae 
or FNMA) or the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac or FHLMC).  
These agencies purchase mortgages from lenders and repackage them as securities for 
investors, making more funds available for lenders to make new loans. 

Additional reporting criteria are as follows: 

 The institution must be a for-profit organization. 

 The institution’s home purchase loan originations must equal or exceed 10% of the 
institution’s total loan originations, or more than $25 million. 

 The institution must have had a home or branch office in an MSA or have received 
applications for, originated, or purchased five or more home purchase loans, home 
improvement loans, or refinancing mortgages on property located in a MSA in the 
preceding calendar year. 

 The institution must have assets exceeding $10 million or have originated 100 or more 
home purchases in the preceding calendar year. 



 

 19 

HMDA data represent most mortgage lending activity and are thus the most comprehensive 
collection of information available regarding home purchase originations, home remodel loan 
originations and refinancing.  The Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (FFIEC) 
makes HMDA data available to the consumer. 

HMDA DATA FOR THE CITY OF PASCAGOULA, MISSISSIPPI 

Source of HMDA Data:  Analysis of Home Mortgage Disclosure Act Data from the Federal 
Financial Institutions Examination Council 

Number of Home Purchase Loans 

 2009 2010 

Metro Area 996 838 

Definition: Number of home purchase loans. 
Notes: Includes only originated, first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 

homes or manufactured homes. 
 
Number of Home Purchase Loans by Race/Ethnicity 

 2009 2010 

Non-Hispanic White 809 664 

Hispanic 39 30 

Non-Hispanic Black 89 90 

Non-Hispanic Asia/Pacific 
Islander 

27 16 

Non-Hispanic American Indian 3 3 

Definition: Number of home purchase loans.  

Notes: Includes only originated, first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 
homes or manufactured homes.  Race/ethnicity refers to the primary 
borrower.  Hispanics may be of any race.  When a borrower self –
identifies as more than one race, race category refers to first race 
specified. 

 

 
Sale of Home Purchase Loans by Race/Ethnicity 

 2009 2010 

Non-Hispanic White 83.7% 82.7% 

Hispanic 4% 3.7% 

Non-Hispanic Black 9.2% 11.2% 

Non-Hispanic Asia/Pacific 
Islander 

2.8% 2% 

Non-Hispanic American Indian 0.3% 0.4% 

Definition: Share of home purchase loans made to each racial/ethnic group. 
Notes: Includes only originated, first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 

homes or manufactured homes.  Race/ethnicity refers to the primary 



 

 20 

borrower.  Hispanics may be of any race.  When borrower self identifies as 
more than one race, race category refers to first race specified.  Shares are 
of those borrowers who report race and ethnicity. 

 
Government-Backed Loans as Share of Home Purchase Loans by Race/Ethnicity 

 2009 2010 

Non-Hispanic White 44.4% 48.2% 

Hispanic 66.7% 76.7% 

Non-Hispanic Black 43.8% 53.3% 

Non-Hispanic Asia/Pacific Islander 25.9% 25% 

Non-Hispanic American Indian 66.7% 33.3% 

Definition: Share of home purchase loans backed by Federal Housing Administration, 
Veterans Administration, Farm Service Agency or Rural Housing Services. 

Notes: Includes only originated, first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 
homes or manufactured homes.  Race/ethnicity refers to the primary 
borrower.  Hispanics may be of any race.  When borrower self identifies as 
more than one race, race category refers to first race specified. 

 
Number of Refinance Loans 

 2009 2010 

Metro Area 2,034 1,406 

Definition: Number of refinance loans. 
Notes: Includes only originated, first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 

homes or manufactured homes.  Race/ethnicity refers to the primary 
borrower. 

 
Number of Refinance Loans by Race/Ethnicity 

 2009 2010 

Non-Hispanic White 1,656 1,164 

Hispanic 36 15 

Non-Hispanic Black 179 101 

Non-Hispanic Asia/Pacific 
Islander 

35 21 

Non-Hispanic American Indian 7 7 

Definition: Number of refinance loans. 
Notes: Includes only originated, first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 

homes or manufactured homes.  Race/ethnicity refers to the primary 
borrower.  Hispanics may be of any race.  When borrower self identifies as 
more than one race, race category refers to first race specified. 

 
Share of Refinance Loans by Race/Ethnicity 

 2009 2010 

Non-Hispanic White 86.6% 89% 



 

 21 

Hispanic 1.9% 1.1% 

Non-Hispanic Black 9.4% 7.7% 

Non-Hispanic Asia/Pacific 
Islander 

1.8% 1.6% 

Non-Hispanic American Indian 0.4% 0.5% 

Definition: Share of refinance loans made to each racial/ethnic group. 
Notes: Includes only originated, first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 

homes or manufactured homes.  Race/ethnicity refers to the primary 
borrower.  Hispanics may be of any race.  When borrower self identifies as 
more than one race, race category refers to first race specified.  Shares are of 
those borrowers who report and ethnicity. 

 
Government-Backed Loans as Share of Refinance Loans by Race/Ethnicity 

 2009 2010 

Non-Hispanic White 20.4% 20.9% 

Hispanic 27.8% 40% 

Non-Hispanic Black 24.6% 32.7% 

Non-Hispanic Asia/Pacific 
Islander 

20% 23.8% 

Non-Hispanic American Indian 42.9% 28.6% 

Definition: Share of refinance loans backed by Federal Housing Administration, Veterans 
Administration, Farm Service Agency or Rural Housing Services. 

Notes: Includes only originated, first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 
homes or manufactured homes.  Race/ethnicity refers to the primary 
borrower.  Hispanics may be of any race.  When a borrower self identifies as 
more than one race, race category refers to first race specified. 

 
High Interest Loans as Share of Home Purchase Loans 

 2009 2010 

Metro Area 16.2% 15% 

Definition: Share of home purchase loans that have an APR (annual percentage rate) at 
least 1.5 percentage points higher that the estimated Average Prime Offer 
Rate for loans extended to prime borrowers based on the rates reported by 
Freddie Mac in its Primary Mortgage Market Survey.  This definition of high 
interest loans differs from that used prior to 2010. 

Notes: Includes only originated, first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 
homes or manufactured homes. 

 
High Interest Rate Loans as Share of Home Purchase Loans by Race/Ethnicity 

 2010 

Non-Hispanic White 13.6% 

Hispanic 6.7% 

Non-Hispanic Black 22.2% 



 

 22 

Non-Hispanic Asia/Pacific Islander -- 

Non-Hispanic American Indian -- 

Definition: Share of home purchase loans that have an APR (annual percentage rate) at 
least 1.5 percentage points higher than the estimated Average Prime Offer 
Rate for loans extended to prime borrowers based on the rates reported by 
Freddie Mac in its Primary Mortgage Market Survey.  This definition of high 
interest loans differs from that used prior to 2010. 

Notes: Includes only originated, first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 
homes or manufactured homes.  Race/ethnicity refers to the primary 
borrower.  Hispanics may be of any race.  When borrower self identifies as 
more than one race, race category refers to first race specified. 

 
High Interest Rate Loans as Share of Home Purchase Loans by Race/Ethnicity and Income 

 Low-Income Middle-Income High-Income 

Non-Hispanic White 22.1% 13.7% 4.9% 

Hispanic -- -- -- 

Non-Hispanic Black 31.8% 20% 4.8% 

Non-Hispanic Asia/Pacific 
Islander 

-- -- -- 

Non-Hispanic American Indian -- -- -- 

Definition: Share of home purchase loans that have an APR (annual percentage rate) at 
least 1.5 percentage points higher than the estimated Average Prime Offer 
Rate for loans extended to prime borrowers based on the rates reported by 
Freddie Mac in its Primary Mortgage Market Survey.  This definition of high 
interest loans differs from that used prior to 2010. 

Notes: Includes only originated, first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 
homes or manufactured homes.  Low-income borrowers had incomes below 
80% of area median income.  Middle-income borrowers had incomes of 
between 80% and 120% of area median income.  High-income borrowers 
had incomes above 120% of area median income.  Race/ethnicity refers to 
the primary borrower.  Hispanics may be of any race.  When borrower self 
identifies as more than one race, race category refers to first race specified. 

 
High Interest Loans as Share of Refinance Loans 

 2010 

Metro Area 8.8% 

Definition: Share of refinance loans that have an APR (annual percentage rate) at least 
1.5 percentage points higher than the estimated Average Prime Offer Rate for 
loans extended to prime borrowers based on the rates reported by Freddie 
Mac in its Primary Mortgage Market Survey.  This definition of high interest 
loans differs from that used prior to 2010. 

Notes: Includes only originated, first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family homes 
or manufactured homes. 



 

 23 

 
High Interest Rate Loans as Share of Refinance Loans by Race/Ethnicity 

Non-Hispanic White 8.8% 

Hispanic -- 

Non-Hispanic Black 17.8% 

Non-Hispanic Asia/Pacific 
Islander 

4.8% 

Non-Hispanic American Indian -- 

Definition: Share of refinance loans that have an APR (annual percentage rate) at least 
1.5 percentage points higher than the estimated Average Prime Offer Rate 
for loans extended to prime borrowers based on the rates reported by 
Freddie Mace in its Primary Mortgage Market Survey.  This definition of high 
interest loans differs from that used prior to 2010. 

Notes: Includes only originated, first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 
homes or manufactured homes.  Race/ethnicity refers to the primary 
borrower.  Hispanics may be of any race.  When borrower self identifies as 
more than one race, race category refers to first race specified. 

 
High Interest Rate Loans as Share of Refinance Loans by Race/Ethnicity and Income 

 Low-Income Middle-Income High-Income 

Non-Hispanic White 12.6% 7.6% 6.2% 

Hispanic -- -- -- 

Non-Hispanic Black 15.4% 16.7% 15.6% 

Non-Hispanic Asia/Pacific 
Islander 

-- -- -- 

Non-Hispanic American Indian -- -- -- 

Definition: Share of refinance loans that have an APR (annual percentage rate) at least 
1.5 percentage points higher than the estimated Average Prime Offer Rate 
for loans extended to prime borrowers based on the rates reported by 
Freddie Mac in its Primary Mortgage Market Survey.  This definition of high 
interest loans differs from that used in 2010. 

Notes: Includes only originated, first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 
homes or manufactured homes.  Low-Income borrowers had incomes below 
80% of area median income.  Middle-income borrowers had incomes of 
between 80% and 120% of area median income.  High-income borrowers 
had incomes above 120% of area median income.  Race/ethnicity refers to 
the primary borrower.  Hispanics may be of any race.  When borrower self 
identifies as more than one race, race category refers to first race specified. 

 
High Interest Rate Loans as Share of Home Purchase Loans by Neighborhood Racial/Ethic 
Composition 

 2010 

Predominantly Minority Neighborhood -- 



 

 24 

Mixed Neighborhood 13.4% 

Predominantly Non-Hispanic White 
Neighborhood 

16.9% 

Definition: Share of refinance loans that have an APR (annual percentage rate) at least 
3 percentage points higher than the interest rate of U.S. Treasury securities 
of the same maturity. 

Notes: Includes only originated, first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 
homes or manufactured homes.  Predominantly non-Hispanic white 
neighborhoods defined as those that were less than 10% minority.  
Predominantly minority neighborhoods defined as those that were 80% or 
more minority.  Mixed neighborhoods defined as those that were between 
10% and 80% minority. 

 
Number of Home Purchase Loan Applications 

 2009 2010 

Metro Area 1,733 1,522 

Definition: Number of home purchase loan applications. 

Notes: Analysis of Home Mortgage Disclosure Act Data from the Federal Financial 
Institutions Examination Council. 

 
High Interest Rate Loans as Share of Refinance Loans by Neighborhood Racial/Ethnic 
Composition 

 2010 

Predominantly Minority Neighborhood 10% 

Mixed Neighborhood 9.5% 

Predominantly Non-Hispanic White Neighborhood 8% 

Definition: Share of home refinance loans that have an APR (annual percentage rate) at 
least 1.5 percentage points higher than the estimated Average Prime Offer 
Rate for loans extended to prime borrowers based on the rates reported by 
Freddie Mac in its Primary Mortgage Market Survey.  This definition of high 
interest rate loans differs from that used prior to 2010. 

Notes: Includes only originated, first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 
homes or manufactured homes.  Predominantly non-Hispanic white 
neighborhoods defined as those that were less than 10% minority.  
Predominantly minority neighborhoods defined as those that were 80% or 
more minority.  Mixed neighborhoods defined as those that were between 
10% and 80% minority. 

 
Number of Home Purchase Loan Applications 

 2009 2010 

Metro Area   1,733 1,522 

Definition: Number of home purchase loan applications. 
Notes: Includes only applications for first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 



 

 25 

homes or manufactured homes. 
 
Number of Home Purchase Loan Applications by Race/Ethnicity 

 2009 2010 

Non-Hispanic White 1,335 1,159 

Hispanic 70 58 

Non-Hispanic Black 188 178 

Non-Hispanic Asia/Pacific 
Islander 

46 31 

Non-Hispanic American Indian 8 7 

Definition: Number of Home Purchase Loan Applications. 
Notes: Includes only applications for first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 

homes or manufactured homes.  Race/ethnicity refers to the primary 
borrower.  Hispanics may be of any race.  When borrower self identifies as 
more than one race, race category refers to first race specified. 

 
Home Purchase Loan Denial Rate 
 2009 2010 
Metro Area   21.6% 25.2% 
Definition: Share of home purchase loans that were denied by lender. 
Notes: Based on applications for first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family homes 

or manufactured homes.  Denials include a small number of pre-approval 
requests denied by financial institution. 

 
Home Purchase Loan Denial by Race/Ethnicity 

 2009 2010 

Non-Hispanic White 19% 23.3% 

Hispanic 22.9% 31% 

Non-Hispanic Black 32.5% 30.3% 

Non-Hispanic Asia/Pacific 
Islander 

-- 35.5% 

Non-Hispanic American Indian -- 42.9% 

Definition: Share of home purchase loans that were denied by lender. 
Notes: Based on applications for first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 

homes or manufactured homes.  Denials include a small number of pre-
approval requests denied by financial institution.  Race/ethnicity refers to 
the primary borrower.  Hispanics may be of any race.  When borrower self 
identifies as more than one race, race category refers to first race specified. 

 
Number of Refinance Loan Applications 

 2009 2010 

Metro Area   4,026 3,128 

Definition: Number of refinance loan applications. 
Notes: Includes only applications for first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 



 

 26 

homes or manufactured homes. 
 
Number of Refinance Loan Application by Race/Ethnicity 

 2009 2010 

Non-Hispanic White 2,954 2,278 

Hispanic 76 44 

Non-Hispanic Black 487 325 

Non-Hispanic Asia/Pacific Islander 104 60 

Non-Hispanic American Indian 17 12 

Definition: Number of Refinance Loan Applications. 
Notes: Includes only applications for first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 

homes or manufactured homes.  Race/ethnicity refers to the primary 
borrower.  Hispanics may be of any race.  When borrower self identifies as 
more than one race, race category refers to first race specified. 

 
Refinance Loan Denial Rate 

 2009 2010 

Metro Area   24% 26.8% 

Definition: Share of refinance loans that were denied by lender. 
Notes: Based on applications for first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 

homes or manufactured homes.  Denials include a small number of pre-
approval requests denied by financial institution. 

 
Refinance Loan Denial Rate by Race/Ethnicity 

 2009 2010 

Non-Hispanic White 20.6% 23.4% 

Hispanic 29% 36.4% 

Non-Hispanic Black 36.3% 41.5% 

Non-Hispanic Asia/Pacific Islander 24% 35% 

Non-Hispanic American Indian -- 25% 

Definition: Share of refinance loans that were denied by lender. 
Notes: Based on applications for first-lien loans for owner-occupied, 1-4 family 

homes or manufactured homes.  Denials include a small number of pre-
approval requests denied by financial institution.  Race/ethnicity refers to 
the primary borrower.  Hispanics may be of any race.  When borrower self 
identifies as more than one race, race category refers to first race specified. 

 
Source: Analysis of Home Mortgage Disclosure Act Data from the Federal Financial 

Institutions Examination Council. 
 

 
 
 



 

 27 

OVERCOMING DATA LIMITATIONS WITH REGARD TO HMDA 
 
Despite data limitations, the information collected under HMDA has proved invaluable for 
ensuring fair lending, especially for individuals, groups and organizations without the financial 
resources to pay for proprietary data.  However, updates to the data are needed to reflect the 
changes in lending over the course of this decade.  Some of these updates are now mandated in 
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank Act), including 
more information on loan terms, pricing, credit sources and borrower demographics.  The 
Dodd-Frank Act also requires that these fields be available publically and at the loan level.  For 
originated loans, new data collection and reporting will include the borrower’s age, as well as 
the number and dollar amount of loans grouped according to total points and fees paid at 
origination; the difference between the loan’s APR and a benchmark for all loans; and the term 
in months of any prepayment penalty. 
 
For originated loans plus applications that do not result in originations, new data collection and 
reporting will include: 

 The value of real property used or intended to be used as collateral. 

 The term in months for which any introductory rate applies. 

 Loans that have contractual terms that reflect other than fully amortizing loans. 

 The mortgage term in months. 

 The applicant(s) or borrower(s) credit score(s). 

 The application receipt channel (e.g. retail, broker, etc.). 
   
Unfortunately, the new data is not expected to be available until 2016. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Agenda Number:  

2/2/2016

Purchasing/Public Works

Jaci Turner 938-6726

Award of Bucket Truck Bid 359

Council approval to award Bucket Truck Bid 359 to low bidder, Aerial Truck Equipment, at a
price of $122,422.00. The tabulation/recommendation form is attached.

✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
15





Agenda Number:  

February 2, 2016

Engineering

Jaci Turner 938-6726

Miscellaneous Services contract with Compton Engineering - contract extension

Approve the attached extension and authorize the City Manager to execute. No funding is
associated directly with this contract - all work is done by separate task orders.

cwarren
Typewritten Text
16





Agenda Number:  

February 2, 2016

Engineering

Jaci Turner 938-6726

Miscellaneous Services contract with Brown, Mitchell & Alexander (BMA) -
contract extension

Approve the attached extension and authorize the City Manager to execute. No funding is
associated directly with this contract - all work is done by separate task orders.

cwarren
Typewritten Text
17











   



Agenda Number:  

February 2, 2016

Engineering

Jaci Turner 938-6726

Budget Modification #5 for LaFont Redevelopment project

Approve Budget Modification #5 - attached - and authorize the City Manager to execute
documents. The only change is extending the grant completion date to 6-30-2016 to allow
further time for job creation documentation and grant closeout.

cwarren
Typewritten Text
18









Agenda Number:  

2/2/16

City Manager/Public Relations

Anne Pitre 228.382.2086

Request for Qualifications for City Web Services

Authorize City Clerk to advertise for qualifications to provide web development, design and 
hosting services for a new City website and economic development microsite

✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
19



   



Agenda Number:  

February 2, 2016

Finance

Bobby Parker 938-6716

Municipal Compliance Questionnaire for the fiscal year ended September 30, 
2015

Accept the Questionnaire and let it be spread upon the minutes.

cwarren
Typewritten Text
20























   



cwarren
Typewritten Text
21













cwarren
Typewritten Text
22





cwarren
Typewritten Text
23











   



Agenda Number:  

February 2, 2015

Finance

Bobby Parker 938-6716

Budget amendment in the General Fund for the Fire Department. BA 16.08.

Council approval of the attached budget amendment.

✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
24



City of Pascagoula
Budget Amendment # 16.08

February 2, 2016

Current Budget Amended

Budget Amendment Budget

General Fund

Revenues:

Miscellaneous:

Miscellaneous 84,096            397 84,493

Total Revenues 84,096            397 84,493

Expenditures:

Fire Repair Service:

Supplies:

Equipment Parts 30,000            397 30,397

Total Expenditures 30,000            397 30,397

Net Change in Fund Balance -

General Fund -                  

To amend budget to provide expenditure authority

for the repair of damages to Unit-14 and the related

reimbursement.



Agenda Number:  

February 2, 2016

Finance

Bobby Parker 938-6716

Budget amendment in the General Fund for the Economic Development 
Department. BA 16.09.

Council approval of the attached budget amendment.

✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
25



City of Pascagoula
Budget Amendment # 16.09

February 2, 2016

Current Budget Amended
Budget Amendment Budget

General Fund

Revenues:
Miscellaneous:

Donations from Private Sources 61,436 300 61,736

Total Revenues 61,436 300 61,736

Expenditures:
Economic Development:

Other Services & Charges:

Advertising - Other 10,000 300 10,300

Total Expenditures 10,000 300 10,300

Net Change in Fund Balance -
General Fund -                  

To amend budget to provide authority for increased
advertising expenditures financed by private 
contributions for the TechTown event.



Agenda Number:  

February 2, 2016

Finance

Bobby Parker 938-6716

Budget amendment in the Community Development Fund for the 2015 Justice 
Assistance Grant. BA 16.10.

Council approval of the attached budget amendment.

✔✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
26



City of Pascagoula
Budget Amendment # 16.10

February 2, 2016

Current Budget Amended
Budget Amendment Budget

Community Development Fund

Revenues:
Grants:

FY 2015 Justice Assistance
Grant -                  14,283 14,283

Total Revenues -                  14,283 14,283

Expenditures:
Community Development:

Other Services & Charges:
FY 2015 Justice Assistance
   Grant -                  14,283 14,283

Total Expenditures -                  14,283 14,283

Net Change in Fund Balance -
Community Development Fund -                  

To amend budget to provide expenditure authority
for FY 2015 Justice Assistance Grant approved
by Council on October 6, 2015 to be used for the
purchase of a police working dog.



Agenda Number:  

February 2, 2015

Finance

Bobby Parker 938-6716

Budget amendment in the General Fund for Police training. BA 16.11.

Council approval of the attached budget amendment.

✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
27



City of Pascagoula
Budget Amendment # 16.11

February 2, 2016

Current Budget Amended
Budget Amendment Budget

General Fund

Revenues:
Miscellaneous:

Miscellaneous 84,096 10,800 94,896

Total Revenues 84,096 10,800 94,896

Expenditures:
Police Training:

Other Services & Charges:
Training - Other 3,750 10,800 14,550

Total Expenditures 3,750 10,800 14,550

Net Change in Fund Balance -
General Fund -                  

To amend budget to provide authority
for increased training expenditures
financed by reimbursements by the state.



Agenda Number:  

February 2, 2016

Finance

Bobby Parker 938-6716

Budget amendment in the General Fund for the Economic Development 
Department. BA 16.12.

Council approval of the attached budget amendment.

✔

cwarren
Typewritten Text
28



City of Pascagoula
Budget Amendment # 16.12

February 2, 2016

Current Budget Amended
Budget Amendment Budget

General Fund

Expenditures:
Economic Development:

Other Services & Charges:

Professional Services - Other 155,000 9,500 164,500

Total Expenditures 155,000 9,500 164,500

Net Change in Fund Balance -
General Fund (9,500)             

To amend budget to provide expenditure authority for 
engineering services on the Riverfront Dock project
approved by Council on October 20, 2015.



cwarren
Typewritten Text
29









cwarren
Typewritten Text
30







   



cwarren
Typewritten Text
31






































	Agenda 2-2-16
	1.1 AIR - Heart Month Proclamation 2.2.16 - 1
	1.2 PROC - Heart Month 2.2.16 - 2
	2.1 AIR - Wear Red Day 2.2.16 - 2
	2.2 PROC - Wear Red Day 2.2.16 - 2
	3. AIR - Resurrection Eagles Football 2.2.16- 2
	4.  AIR - Curley Clark - address Council - Need for Diversity on School Board (2-2-16 - 2)
	5. AIR - Promenade Public Discussion
	6.1 AIR 2-2-16 - Resolution - Property Cleanup - 709 Live Oak
	6.2 709 Live Oak Feb 2 meeting - 2
	7. AIR - Minutes of Recessed Regular Council Meeting - 1-19-16
	8. AIR - Arbor Day Proclamation 2016
	AIR - Arbor Day Proclamation 2016
	Pascagoula Arbor Day Proclamation.pdf

	9. AIR - 2-2-16 - National Day of Prayer
	10. AIR - 2-2-16 - Advertising the Resources - Pasc River Festival - Free Flowin on the River
	11. AIR - Discover South Mississippi - 2
	11.2  Discover South Mississippi
	12.1  AIR - Zonta MOU
	13. AIR - Point Pervious Paving Close Out 2016
	AIR - Point Pervious Closeout 2016
	Closeout Docs - Pervious Concrete 2016.pdf

	14. AIR - Analysis of Impediments 2015
	15. Agenda Item- Award Bucket Truck Bid 359
	AIR - Award Bucket Truck Bid 359
	doc03315520160125144138

	16. AIR - Compton contract extension w attach
	17. AIR - BMA contract extension w attach
	18. AIR - Lafont Budget Mod 5 w attach
	19. AIR - Website RFQ - 2
	20. AIR FormPLUS - Municipal-compliance-questionnaire FY2015 (FINAL SIGNED) - 2
	21. AIR - 2-2-16 - Resolution authorizing sale of ERF
	22. AIR Sarah Thomas
	23. AIR - 2-2-16 - Challenging Coastal Floodplain Maps - Biggert Waters Act
	24. AIR FormPLUS - BA 16.08 - GF - FD - Equip Parts - 2
	25. AIR FormPLUS - BA 16.09 - GF - Eco Dev - Adv (TechTown) - 2
	26. AIR FormPLUS - BA 16.10 - CDF - JAG Grant - 2
	27. AIR FormPLUS - BA 16.11 - GF - PD - Training - 2
	28. AIR FormPLUS - BA 16.12 - GF - Eco Dev - Engnring Services - 2
	29. AIR - 2-2-16 - Resolution establishing Arts District
	30. AIR Update Job Description
	31. AIR Docket of Claims



